# **OPERATIONAL GUIDE** using the web-based dashboard



Early Warning and Response System (EWARS) for dengue outbreaks

SECOND EDITION



# **OPERATIONAL GUIDE**

using the web-based dashboard Early Warning and Response System (EWARS) for dengue outbreaks

SECOND EDITION



Operational guide using the web-based dashboard: Early Warning and Response System (EWARS) for dengue outbreaks, second edition ISBN 978-92-4-000375-0 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-000376-7 (print version)

# © World Health Organization on behalf of the Special Programme for Research and Training in Tropical Diseases, 2020

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-ncsa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO, including TDR, endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO and TDR logos is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO) or by the Special Programme for Research and Training in Tropical Diseases (TDR). WHO, including TDR is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization.

Suggested citation. Operational guide using the web-based dashboard: Early Warning and Response System (EWARS) for dengue outbreaks, second edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see http://apps.who.int/bookorders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see http://www.who.int/ about/licensing.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO, including TDR, concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO, including TDR, in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters. All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO, including TDR, to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO, including TDR, be liable for damages arising from its use.

# Contents

For	eword		viii
Pre	face		ix
Ack	nowled	gements	x
Glo	ssary		xi
Cho	apter 1.	Preparing your dataset	1
1.1	Survei	llance data, contents and format	
	1.1.1 (	General variables	1
	1.1.2 (	Dutbreak indicator	2
	1.1.3 A	Alarm indicator(s)	2
Cho	apter 2.	Dashboard I: Data Calibration (for user at central level)	3
2.1	Access	ing the EWARS dashboard	3
2.2	Setting	the country, password and the surveillance dataset	4
	2.2.1	Country code and password settings (to allow access for local users)	4
	2.2.2	Uploading your surveillance dataset	4
2.3	Calibra	iting your instrument	5
	2.3.1	Dividing your dataset into run-in and evaluation data	5
	2.3.2	Defining the districts to be analysed	6
	2.3.3	Defining the district population	6
	2.3.4	Defining your outbreak indicator	7
	2.3.5	Defining your outbreak period	7
	2.3.6	Defining your alarm indicator(s)	8
	2.3.7	Defining your window size for the alarm indicators	8
	2.3.8	Defining your alarm threshold	
	2.3.9	Defining the graphical outputs	
	2.3.10	Defining your seasonal variation	10
	2.3.11	Defining your endemic channel	10
	2.3.12	Defining your window size for the outbreak indicator	12
	2.3.13	Defining your prediction distance	12
	2.3.14	Defining your outbreak signal	13
	2.3.15	Activating the process for monotonic relationship (spline)	13
	2.3.16	Running the program	14
	2.3.17	Generating the surveillance workbook	14

2.4	Under	standing your calibration outputs	15
	2.4.1	Graph: run-in period	15
	2.4.2	Graph: evaluation period	16
	2.4.3	Graph: run-in and evaluation period	17
	2.4.4	Summary of calibration results, and sensitivity and PPV	18
Cho	apter 3.	Dashboard II: Harvesting the Results (for user at local level)	21
3.1	Prospe	ctive early warning system	21
	3.1.1	Access to and summary of parameters: where to find them in Dashboard II and their usefulness	21
	3.1.2	The three sub-links in Dashboard II: "Retrospective", "Dataset"' and "Help"; their definitions and uses	23
	3.1.3	The surveillance workbook tab: all you need to know for this section	23
	3.1.4	The input data tab: all you need to know for this section	24
	3.1.5	The outbreak tab: all you need to know for this section	25
	3.1.6	The probability tab: all you need to know for this section	26
	3.1.7	The alarm plus outbreak tab: all you need to know for this section	27
	3.1.8	The response tab: all you need to know for this section	28
3.2	Retriev	ring online meteorological information on weekly alarms (datasets sub-link)	29
	3.2.1	Setting your local district/municipality spatial information to detect nearest	
		meteorological station	29
	3.2.2	Setting your period of interest for deriving the meteorological information	30
	3.2.3	Selecting a desired meteorological station from the obtained list	31
	3.2.4	Using the derived information of the alarm indicators	32
Cho	apter 4.	The Automatization of EWARS	33
4.1	Backor	ound	33
4.2	Access	ing the EWARS dashboard	33
4.3	Calibra	iting the instrument	34
	4.3.1	Manual Calibration	35
	4.3.2	Automatized Calibration	39
4.4	Dashb	oard 2: prospective application	41

AN	NEX. Te	chnical guide	43
1. Ir	ntroduc	tion	43
2. N	lethodo	logy	43
2.1	Retros	pective phase	43
	2.1.1	Run-in data	.43
	2.1.2	Evaluation data	.43
2.2	Prospe	ctive early warning phase (i.e. Dashboard II)	44
	2.2.1	Rationale for the approach	.44
3. S	tructura	al design	44
3.1	Phase	I (retrospective: Dashboard I)	44
	3.1.1	Using the run-in data to create the prediction model (part one)	.44
	3.1.2	Using the evaluation data to assess how the derived parameters from the run-in data	
		would predict an outbreak (part two)	.49
3.2	Phase	II (prospective surveillance: Dashboard II)	50

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Summary list of variables	1
Figure 2.	Language setting and assigning password for local users to access their corresponding algorithms	4
Figure 3.	Uploading your dataset and entering the corresponding sheet name and number	4
Figure 4.	Dividing your dataset	5
Figure 5.	Choosing your districts	6
Figure 6.	Defining the annual number of people in your districts	6
Figure 7.	Labelling the number of outbreak cases	7
Figure 8.	Defining the outbreak period	7
Figure 9.	Defining the alarm indicator	8
Figure 10.	Defining window size for the alarm indicators	8
Figure 11.	Defining the alarm threshold	9
Figure 12.	Selecting your graphical output	9
Figure 13.	Choice of the seasonal variation	10
Figure 14.	Changing the endemic channel (the outbreak threshold)	10
Figure 15.	Modelling the endemic channela	11
Figure 16.	Defining the number of outbreak weeks (window size)	12
Figure 17.	Defining the prediction distance (in weeks)	12
Figure 18.	Defining the cut-off point of the outbreak signal	13
Figure 19.	Choice of the spline application	13
Figure 20.	Running the surveillance workbook	14
Figure 21.	Generating the surveillance workbook	14
Figure 22.	Graph of the run-in data showing the endemic channel, number of cases and outbreak period	15
Figure 23.	Graph of the evaluation data showing the general parameters including the probability of outbreak period	16
Figure 24.	Graph of the combined run-in and evaluation data showing all information	17
Figure 25.	Absolute values in the output table, example showing total number of outbreaks, missed outbreaks, alarms, correct alarms and false alarms	18
Figure 26.	Sensitivity and PPV (screenshot of the output table – success of predicting outbreaks is shown in sensitivity/PPV)	19
Figure 27.	Summary of parameters from the retrospective analysis (Dashboard I)	22
Figure 28.	Surveillance workbook tab: all you need to know for this section	23

Figure 29.	The input data tab: all you need to know for this section	. 24
Figure 30.	The outbreak tab: all you need to know for this section	. 25
Figure 31.	The probability tab: all you need to know for this section	. 26
Figure 32.	The alarm plus outbreak tab: all you need to know for this section	. 27
Figure 33.	The response tab: all you need to know for this section	. 28
Figure 34.	Retrieving online meteorological information: setting your district's spatial information	. 29
Figure 35.	Retrieving online meteorological information: defining the period of interest	. 30
Figure 36.	Retrieving online meteorological information: selecting a desired meteorological station	. 31
Figure 37.	Reading the retrieved online meteorological information for alarm indicators	. 32
Figure 38.	Importing surveillance data into the EWARS	. 34
Figure 39.	Selecting the list of variables and defining the running period	. 35
Figure 40.	Doing the calibration (manual mode	. 36
Figure 41.	Illustrating an example of graphical presentation from the calibration stage	. 37
Figure 42.	Illustrating an example of outputs for the calibration parameters including	
sensitivity a	nd PPV.	. 38
Figure 43.	Doing the automatized calibration	. 39
Figure 44.	Example of output illustrations from the automatized calibration	. 40
Figure 45.	Example of prospective phase using the automatized calibration	. 41
<b>Figure 46.</b> phases (I, II	Block diagram illustrating the process and steps of the retrospective and prospective ) 45	
Figure 47.	Illustrated process of measuring the alarm indicator(s) for a defined alarm window size.	. 46
Figure 48. a defined o	Illustration of the moving average process of measuring the outbreak indicator for utbreak window size	47

# FOREWORD

Currently, dengue fever is the fastest-spreading mosquito-borne viral disease worldwide with epidemics overburdening stretched health systems and threatening the stability of societies. Although the transmission of dengue and recently also of chikungunya and Zika can be controlled with a combination of effective vector control interventions and an efficient vaccine, late detection and inadequate response mechanisms are compounding the effects of rapid transmission. Furthermore, despite the existence of outbreak alert indicators, the means of deploying them in early warning systems is often lacking.

With this in view, a programme led by TDR, the Special Programme for Research and Training in Tropical Diseases, conducted multi-country research into alarm signals for outbreaks and their use within early warning systems. In line with the prevailing literature,<sup>1,2,3</sup> alarm variables, such as hospitalized confirmed or probable dengue, chikungunya and Zika cases, as well as a set of epidemiological, entomological and environmental variables evidenced predictive abilities.<sup>4</sup> However, it was clear that countries are in need of a standardized and compatible approach to deploy these alarm signals in a predictive and operational way. It was on this basis that an accessible, adaptable and user-friendly early warning system was developed.<sup>5</sup>

This guide is an update to the previous version. This revised edition of *Operational guide using the webbased dashboard: Early Warning and Response System (EWARS) for dengue outbreaks, second edition* aims to provide programme managers with a user-friendly tool that can: (i) analyse and draw conclusions from historic dengue, chikungunya and Zika datasets; (ii) identify appropriate alarm indicators that can sensitively and specifically predict forthcoming outbreaks at smaller spatial scales; and (iii) use these results and analyses to build an early warning system to detect dengue outbreaks in real-time and respond accordingly. Together, these three components will build technical capacity and provide a standardized methodology for predicting dengue outbreaks in countries with great need. Furthermore, this web-based EWARS tool can ensure enhanced, fast and secured communication, between national and subnational levels, and standardized utilization of surveillance data.

The original guide was produced by TDR together with WHO's Neglected Tropical Diseases (WHO/ NTD) and WHO regional offices in the context of a European Union-financed research programme, the International Research Consortium on Dengue Risk Assessment, Management and Surveillance (IDAMS), to develop an evidence-based, early warning system for outbreak detection and management of dengue fever, chikungunya and Zika outbreaks.

- <sup>2</sup> Halide H, Ridd P (2008). A predictive model for dengue hemorrhagic fever epidemics. Int J Environ Health Res. 18:253–265.
- <sup>3</sup> Hii YL, Rocklöv J, Wall S, Ng LC, Tang CS, Ng N (2012). Optimal lead time for dengue forecast. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 6:e1848.
- <sup>4</sup> Bowman LR, Tejeda GS, Coelho GE, Sulaiman LH, Gil BS, McCall PJ et al. (2016). Alarm variables for dengue outbreaks: a multi-centre study in Asia and Latin America. PLoS One. 11:e0157971.
- <sup>5</sup> Hussain-Alkhateeb L, Kroeger A, Olliaro P, Rocklõv J, Sewe MO, Tejeda G et al. (2018). Early warning and response system (EWARS) for dengue outbreaks: recent advancements towards widespread applications in critical settings. PLoS One 13:e0196811.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Hii YL, Zhu H, Ng N, Ng LC, Rocklöv J (2012). Forecast of dengue incidence using temperature and rainfall. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* 6:e1908.

# PREFACE

Welcome to *Operational guide using the web-based dashboard: Early Warning and Response System (EWARS) for dengue outbreaks, second edition.* This guide will provide you with the information and tools necessary to use and analyse surveillance data to predict dengue outbreaks. Below are step-by-step instructions to help you organize your raw data, enter it into the web-based dashboard, run the analysis and interpret your results. At the end of this guide there is an annex providing technical information on the processes and statistics you will be using. However, you do not need to use it to build your early warning system.

The computerized statistical program that the EWARS will be using is called 'R', version 3.4.3. Before running analyses, it is important that the data you have collected are in the correct format; otherwise, the analytical software will not recognize your data and will not work properly.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The original version of *Operational guide using the web-based dashboard: Early Warning and Response System (EWARS) for dengue outbreaks, second edition* was written by Laith Hussain-Alkhateeb. It was coordinated and supported by Axel Kroeger and Piero Olliaro of TDR, the Special Programme for Research and Training in Tropical Diseases. Special thanks goes to Joacim Rocklöv and his team; Maquins Odhiambo Sewe for the development of the analytical programming during the transfer process from the STATA-to-R statistical package; and, to Aditya L. Ramadona for providing insight and key developmental contributions to the web-based dashboard. We also acknowledge David Benitez (Mexico) and Balvinder Gill (Malaysia) for beta testing the materials, as well as the following colleagues for contributing valuable country data to enable the development of EWARS: Roberta Carvalho (Brazil); Giovanini Coelho (Brazil); Lokman Hakim (Malaysia); Luong Quang (Viet Nam); Ronald Skewes Ramm (Dominican Republic); and Gustavo Sanchez Tejeda (Mexico).

The original version of the guide was developed in the context of a dengue research programme supported by a grant from the European Commission (Grant Number m281803) to the International Research Consortium on Dengue Risk Assessment, Management and Surveillance (IDAMS) within the 7th Framework Programme of the European Commission (FP7), and by TDR.

This version is a revision, to include reference to other arbovirus diseases for which the tool can be used, and to include an additional chapter on the automatized EWARS tool.

# GLOSSARY

Term	Definition
R-package	Specialized software used to process and analyse your data and to generate meaningful results.
Endemic channel	This represents the number of cases within the expected normal seasonal range of specific area; anything above this moving threshold would be considered representative of an unprecedented number of cases, i.e. an outbreak.
Outbreak indicator	The dependent variable(s) used to define outbreaks. Usually probable or hospitalized dengue cases.
Alarm indicator	The independent variable(s) used to predict outbreaks. This could be one of a number of meteorological variables, e.g. rainfall, temperature, or other entomological/epidemiological variables.
Spline	A function to capture both positive and non-linear associations between the same alarm indicator(s) and outbreak indicator(s).
Sensitivity	The proportion of outbreaks correctly predicted by alarms. A higher number indicates higher true positive alarms.
Positive predictive value (PPV)	The proportion of alarms that successfully predicted outbreaks. A higher number indicates lower false positive alarms.
Standard deviation (SD)	This is the standard deviation, which is a measure that is used to quan- tify the amount of variation or dispersion of a set of data values. A low standard deviation indicates that the data points scatter close to the mean (average).

医马克勒氏病 化乙酸医乙二氨基苯基 化氯苯基 化化乙烯 化氨基苯基基化乙基乙烯 化化化石 医人名英格兰斯 医马克氏试验检 医白细胞 医弗鲁氏氏管 法法 医胆液的 化化分子 医马克曼斯特 医白色 医骨骨 医白白白白 化分子合合 人名英格兰人姓氏克 医白白白白白白白白白白白 이 있는 것이 있는 것이다. 이 것이 있는 것이 같은 것이 같은 것이 있는 것이 없는 것 かんかく かんか かんかん アンディング しょうかん かんかん しょうしょう しょうしょうかい ، ۇۋىچە بەشۋىرىد ئىر ۋاقىدىلەت بەت ئى ۋە دەقۇر ب 网络美国美国大学会美国大学会美国大学会美国大学会美国大学会主义的美国大学会美国大学会主义 医白喉骨炎 医黄疸 医结核 医原子 化乙烯基 计算法 医白白 法法律法庭 医白白菌素 计存在分词 计算法分词 化分子 网络卡 医子宫间 医生生 医多氏结合 医外外的 化合金 医子子 人名英格兰人姓氏 化化合金 化化合金 化化合金 网络美国新教会会 化氯化合金 医白白素 化化合金 医白白素 医白白素 化合金 医白白素 化化合金 化分子 化分子 化分子 医骨骨膜炎 网络黄金 医子宫骨骨骨骨骨骨 医子宫 医子宫 医子宫 医子宫 医子宫 网络黄金 医白白白 医白白白白 医白白白白 **Marija** 医骨骨骨 医白色黄疸 化化化合金 化分子 化化合金 化合金 医骨骨骨 医骨骨 网络白色 化合金合金 化丁 とうしんがい かんかん かんかん かんかい かいしょう かいしょう かんしょう しょうしょう しんしょう しんしょう h 문 김 수 있다고 한 승규는 이 가슴을 다 있다. 한 승규는 가슴 가슴을 가 있는 것이 가 있습니다. 부분들습니다. 이야한테 등을 다른 말을 위한 이야지 수 하는 것이 있다. 이야한테 가지는 이야한테 가지 않는 것을 했다. 医骨骨 医弗尔氏管 医脊髓静脉 医骨骨骨 医静静脉 医子宫 医子宫 医骨骨 人 a a de artes de la campa e a de antes de la definida de la de Novembre de la companya de la desar de la definidad de la desar 그는 아이들을 들었는 것 이 가지 않는 것이 없다. 이상승규는 것은 눈 옷을 만들었다. 학습관습관을 통해 8 (t) (t) in ta

# Chapter 1 Preparing your dataset

# 1.1 Surveillance data, contents and format

Before running the analysis, your dataset should contain the list of variables described below. Variables "year", "week" and "district" need to be written in lower-case letters, as presented in figure 1. At least one alarm indicator is required (e.g. mean temperature) but additional alarm indicators can also be included. A minimum of three years' data records is needed to run this program.

year         distr           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1	rict week 39 40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48	population_annual_number 200000 200000 200000 200000 200000 200000 200000 200000 200000	weekly_hospitalized_cases           3           0           1           2           3           1	weekly_humidity_mean 62,0 65,1 72,3 66,0 71,1 71,0 72,7	weekly_rainfall_sum 0,0 11,7 0,0 2,8 1,3 0,0	weekly_temperature_mean 0,0 23,9 26,9 23,8 26,8	5				
2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1	39 40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48	200000 200000 200000 200000 200000 200000 200000 200000	3 0 1 1 2 3 1	62,0 65,1 72,3 66,0 71,1 71,0 72,7	0,0 11,7 0,0 2,8 1,3 0,0	0,0 23,9 26,9 23,8 26,8	1				
2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1	40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48	200000 200000 200000 200000 200000 200000 200000 200000	0 1 2 3 1	65,1 72,3 66,0 71,1 71,0 72,7	11,7 0,0 2,8 1,3 0,0	23,9 26,9 23,8 26,8	/	$\left( \right)$			
2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1	41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48	200000 200000 200000 200000 200000 200000 200000	1 1 2 3 1	72,3 66,0 71,1 71,0 72,7	0,0 2,8 1,3 0,0	26,9 23,8 26,8		$\langle \rangle$			
2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1           2015         1	42 43 44 45 46 47 48	200000 200000 200000 200000 200000 200000	1 2 3 1	66,0 71,1 71,0 72,7	2,8 1,3 0.0	23,8 26,8		$\setminus$	$\setminus$		
2015 1 2015 1 2015 1 2015 1 2015 1 2015 1	43 44 45 46 47 48	200000 200000 200000 200000 200000	2 3 1	71,1 71,0 72,7	1,3	26,8					
2015 1 2015 1 2015 1 2015 1	44 45 46 47 48	200000 200000 200000 200000	3	71,0	0.0			· · · · ·	× 1		
2015 1 2015 1 2015 1	45 46 47 48	200000 200000	1	727		27,0		$\langle \rangle$	<b>1</b>		
2015 1	46 47 48	200000	4	1 6., 1	23,5	28,1					
2015 1	47 48	200000	4	70.0	30,4	29.4		The	user car	add mo	re
2010	48	200000	5	68,7	25,0	29,9		"alar	m" indi	ators he	re!
2015 1		200000	3	66,7	15,0	30,1					
2015 1	49	200000	2	70,0	50,5	30,9					
2015 1	50	200000	1	71,4	90,2	31,0					
2015 1	51	200000	0	74,1	139,4	31,0					
2015 1	52	200000	0	84,0	369,7	30,9					
2015 2	1	3450000	2	62,0	0,0	0,0					
2015 2	2	3450000	2	65,1	11,7	23,9					
2015 2	3	3450000	4	72,3	0,0	26,9					
2015 2	4	3450000	3	66,0	2,8	23,8					
2015 2	5	3450000	5	71,1	1,3	24,8					
2015 2	6	3450000	4	71,0	0,0	27,0					
2015 2	7	3450000	3	72,7	0,0	28,1					
2015 2	8	3450000	2	70,0	0,5	29,4					
2015 2	9	3450000	1	68,7	1,3	29,9					
2015 2	10	3450000	1	66,7	0,0	30,1					
2015 2	11	3450000	3	70,0	1,8	30,9					
2015 2	12	3450000	2	71,4	0,3	31,0					
2015 2	13	3450000	0	74,1	139,4	31,0					
2015 2	14	3450000	1	84,0	369,7	30,9					

#### Figure 1. Summary list of variables

### 1.1.1 General variables

- "year": the year when the data were collected. The year must be entered in full using "four" numbers (e.g. 2015, 2016, etc.);
- "week": the number of the epidemiological week (Sunday to Saturday) when data were collected/obtained. The week number must be entered in full (e.g. 1, 2, 3, etc.);
- "district": a number (code) that represents the district, locality or municipality where data were captured (e.g. 1, 2, 15, 22, etc.);
- "population\_annual\_number": the annual population size of a district is reported in absolute numbers in the surveillance data. See column G in figure 1, above.

### 1.1.2 Outbreak indicator

• "weekly\_hospitalized\_cases": this is the number of hospitalized cases in a given district per epidemiological week, based on the date of hospital admission. Unless rigorous analysis using statistical imputation and validation methodologies have been performed on other outbreak indicators beforehand, we recommend using hospitalized cases as the most appropriate records. You could substitute probable case data where hospitalized data are missing, but this must be distinguished and consistent across all datasets. You cannot mix hospitalized and probable case data.

## 1.1.3 Alarm indicator(s)

You need a minimum of one alarm indicator, but there is no maximum limit. Please ensure that you enter the exact variable name of the alarm indicator in the Dashboard I interface but avoid alarm indicators with substantial missing records. Some examples of alarm indicators are listed below:

- "weekly\_humidity\_mean": the weekly mean humidity (as a percentage), for a corresponding district and year;
- "weekly rainfall\_sum": the total weekly rainfall (in mm) for a corresponding district and year;
- "weekly\_temperature\_mean": the weekly mean temperature in either Celsius or Fahrenheit (do not use Celsius and Fahrenheit data in the same spreadsheet: choose one or the other), for a corresponding district and year;
- "ovitrap index", measured as the proportion of positive ovitraps per block or other indicators (i.e. infested with *Aedes* eggs).

Please note, it is important that the corresponding variable names are entered correctly where specified in the Dashboard I interface, i.e. they should have the exact spelling and format as in the original surveillance dataset (column).

# Chapter 2 Dashboard I: Data calibration (for user at central level)

In this web-based interface (Dashboard I), you are going to make necessary settings and calibrations and, eventually generate the algorithm and parameter coefficients that users at district levels will be using for their prospective analyses (in Dashboard II). This process can take place once a year. In addition, and prior to doing any calibration, you will need to assign local users at districts level an 8-digit password to access their corresponding district account and run their prospective analysis.

The instructions below relate to these steps before linking to the prospective analysis (Dashboard II).

# 2.1 Accessing the EWARS dashboard

Countries can contact **ewars@post.com** to request their own EWARS accounts for free access and applications. The use of a country's own dashboard account increases the usage capacity and ensures privacy and data protection.

Once requested, each country will be provided with usernames and passwords to access their own dashboard accounts as well as a Google drive account to link both dashboards. Users at central (national) level will need to use Dashboard I for the setting and calibration process and, users at local (district/provincial) level will need Dashboard II for declaring alarm signals (if any) and responding to alarms accordingly (prospective phase). Users at the central level will need to log into their corresponding Google drive accounts and install into their local PC, where they can view all files generated from dashboard I. You can access your account by simply clicking on the link provided in the EWARS COUNTRY PACKAGE then use the given user name and password to run.

Along with the EWARS package, the R-program script and additional instructions are also provided (under the "HELP" tab in Dashboard I) to assist countries with interest in building their own national hub or integrating this EWARS tool into their existing national surveillance program. This is recommended as it can facilitate a more feasible and sustainable application.

For the purpose of demonstration and training, demo Dashboard accounts and a demo dataset are provided in the box below:

Dashboard I & II: https://alramadona.shinyapps.io/Demo\_Automated\_Ewars/

Once you access Dashboard I, you can download the "Demo Dataset" from the "HELP" tab for further practical understanding of the tool.

# 2.2 Setting the country, password and the surveillance dataset

# 2.2.1 Country code and password settings (to allow access for local users)

Before running Dashboard I, you can choose your country code from the list (for the demo account only!).

Users at central level need to assign secured 8-digit passwords for local users at district-level (Dashboard II) to use when accessing their corresponding district information (algorithm and coefficients) they require on a weekly basis for the prospective analysis.

Figure 2 shows where you can find and change these settings. More settings follow after the figure and are illustrated in the section below.

#### This option is only available for country-specific Dashboards

Figure 2. Language setting and assigning password for local users to access their corresponding algorithms



# 2.2.2 Uploading your surveillance dataset

Browse and select your dataset in order to upload it and run the calibration process. In Excel, a spreadsheet is divided into "sheets". These sheets can be given a name, but unless you do, the usual name is "Sheet1". Enter (copy/paste) the EXACT sheet name (text) and number (e.g. "Sheet1") into the corresponding box in your dashboard interface so the analytical tool can allocate your dataset.

#### This option is found under 'Data' tab in Dashboard !

Figure 3. Uploading your dataset and entering the corresponding sheet name and number

choose file	to upload	
Browse	No file selected	Browse and select your surveillance dataset from your local PC.
Choice of s	heet name for the original	data
Sheet1		Enter (copy/paste) the EXACT "sheet" name (text) and number (e.g. "Sheet1").

# 2.3 Calibrating your instrument

# 2.3.1 Dividing your dataset into run-in and evaluation data

Before running Dashboard I, you must change the model settings in accordance with your data and the analysis you want to run (changing values, alarm/outbreak thresholds, etc.). This will define and improve the prediction of outbreaks.

The figures in this section show you where to find these settings so that you can change them.

#### This option is found under 'Variables & Run-in' tab in Dashboard I

Figure 4. Dividing your dataset



- To detect alarm indicators that can help you predict outbreaks, you need to first run a retrospective analysis of your data. For this step, the model requires that you divide your dataset into two time periods. Now you must choose the dates of your historic/run-in period and the evaluation period.
- See sections 2.1.1 and 2.1.2 in Annex 1 for more details on the "run-in period" and "evaluation period"!
- To do so, enter the year and week that you want your "run-in period" to END. The analytical tool will automatically use all data after this date as the "evaluation period". For example, enter 201326 with no space between the year and week digits for year "2013" and week "26".
- This corresponds to **steps 1** and **10** in the annex.

# 2.3.2 Defining the districts to be analysed

This option is found under 'Data' tab in Dashboard I

Figure 5. Choosing your districts

#### District codes



- · Here you can choose to analyse specific districts or all districts.
- Enter the desired district code(s) of interest.
- The user can enter more than one district code by using 'comma' between each district code.
- This precedes **step 1** in the annex.

## 2.3.3 Defining the district population

#### This option is found under 'Variables & Run-in' tab in Dashboard I

Figure 6. Defining the annual number of people in your districts



- In each district you will have a different human population.
- Here, you must type the name of the variable that tells the analytical program the size of each district population, e.g. if your spreadsheet column is labelled population, please type "population" into the box.
- It is important to type the EXACT text of the variable names (i.e. the title of the column) as it appears in the surveillance data.
- This corresponds to **step 3a** in the annex.

# 2.3.4 Defining your outbreak indicator

#### This option is found under 'Variables & Run-in' tab in Dashboard I

Figure 7. Labelling the number of outbreak cases



- Here you must consider what incident case data have been captured. For example, it might be the number of "week-ly\_hospitalised\_cases" (recommended) or weekly probable clinical cases or other possible case indicators.
- Please type in the indicated box, the column name that describes these data it must be the same as in your surveillance dataset.
- This corresponds to **step 3a** in the annex.

## 2.3.5 Defining your outbreak period

This option is found under 'Variables & Run-in' tab in Dashboard I

Figure 8. Defining the outbreak period



- A collection of consecutive "outbreak weeks" defines an outbreak. It is up to you how to define an outbreak, but we recommend 2 or 3 weeks.
- Enter the desired choice of the minimum number of outbreak weeks needed to define the outbreak period. For example, if you enter 3 in this box then a minimum of "3" consecutive outbreak weeks is required to define an outbreak (outbreak period), and a minimum of "3" consecutive NON-outbreak weeks is required to declare a no-outbreak period.
- This corresponds to **step 3b** in the annex.

# 2.3.6 Defining your alarm indicator(s)

#### This option is found under 'Variables & Run-in' tab in Dashboard I

Figure 9. Defining the alarm indicator

## Alarm indicator(s)

weekly\_average\_precipitation weekly\_mean\_temperature From the drop-down list, select the desired alarm indicator(s) according to the name of the column in your surveillance dataset.

- Alarm indicators are defined as an alarm that can predict a forthcoming outbreak.
- Here you can choose which "alarm indicator"(s) you want to test for predictive capacity.
- Enter the desired alarm indicator(s) according to the name of the column in your surveillance dataset; you may include an unlimited number of alarm indicators in this command.
- Missing data will negatively affect the results so be sure that you have a complete dataset before running any or multiple alarm indicators.
- Do not alter the alarm indicator(s) text.
- It is important that the name of the alarm indicator you enter in this option is EXACTLY the same as the variable name in the surveillance data (i.e. the same text you find in the column title in your surveillance data).
- This corresponds to **step 4** in the annex.

## 2.3.7 Defining your window size for the alarm indicators

#### This option is found under 'Calib1' tab in Dashboard I

Figure 10. Defining window size for the alarm indicators



- The values of each "alarm indicator" will be recalculated by the program to produce an average over a given time period. Here you can alter this time period.
- Enter the desired choice of window size (number of weeks) from which the mean value of the alarm indicator can be calculated.
- For example, entering a value of "3" for this option suggests that you are calculating the mean value (average) of the alarm indicator (e.g. temperature) of the current week and two previous weeks, consecutively. A minimum value of

"1" means you are measuring the alarm indicator unit of the current week!

• This corresponds to **step 4** in the annex.

### 2.3.8 Defining your alarm threshold

This option is found under 'Calib1' tab in Dashboard I

Figure 11. Defining the alarm threshold



- Here you decide what "alarm threshold" is used to signal an alarm.
- At this stage, a probability of an outbreak is calculated based on the user's input. The alarm threshold is, therefore, a value you need to enter to define a possible alarm signal (an alarm signal is declared when the calculated outbreak probability > the alarm threshold you entered).
- If the threshold you entered is too high, you may not have any alarms and, therefore, no alarm outbreaks will be predicted. If the threshold is too low, you may have many alarms that detect all outbreaks but you will also have many false alarms. You need to experiment with the appropriate value by changing the threshold to get a good balance between a low number of false alarms (positive predictive value or PPV) and high outbreak prediction rate (sensitivity).
- The optimal threshold value has often been shown to be in the range of 0.05–0.2.
- This corresponds to **step 13** in the annex.

### 2.3.9 Defining the graphical outputs

#### This option is found under 'Calib1' tab in Dashboard I

Figure 12. Selecting your graphical output

Specify graph per district/municipality option

Tick this box to generate graphs.

- Here you can generate a graph for a specific district, many districts or all districts.
- Tick the indicated box for the graph presentation of the outcome.
- Leaving this option blank will not generate the basic "run-in" analysis graph.
- This corresponds to **step 14** in the annex.

## 2.3.10 Defining your seasonal variation

This option is found under 'Calib1' tab in Dashboard I

Figure 13. Choice of the seasonal variation



- If you believe that some alarm indicators are better predictors at different times of the year, you can allow for this by dividing the year into different periods.
- For example, "season length"=4 means that the first alarm indicator analysis is based on the first 4 weeks of the year, the second is based on week 5–8, the third is week 9–12, etc.
- A maximum season length value of 52 is acceptable. Your minimum season length value should be > the value you entered for the window size (e.g. 2) for measuring the mean alarm indicator including the current week.
- This corresponds to **step 8** in the annex.

## 2.3.11 Defining your endemic channel

#### This option is found under 'Calib2' tab in Dashboard I

Figure 14. Changing the endemic channel (the outbreak threshold)



- Here you can change the number of cases required to form an outbreak week and therefore an outbreak. By increasing this threshold you will define fewer outbreaks, and by decreasing this you will increase the number of recorded outbreaks (figure 15).
- Enter the desired value to define the "multiplying value" by the "standard deviation (SD)", for example, z=1 is the same SD, z=1.5 is one and half times the SD, z=2 is two times the SD, etc. See figure 15 below.
- This corresponds to **step 2** in the annex.

1000 Population I Mean+z\*sd 0 .5 1 1.5 Outbreak signal (1=yes)/ period (1.25=yes) 2 diffin Monthatz 0 150 50 100 0 Epidemiological Week (3 years) Incidence Endemic Channel (z=1.25) Outbreak Signal **Outbreak Period** 1000 Population I Mean+z\*sd 0 .5 1 1.5 Outbreak signal (1=yes)/ period (1.25=yes) N •• 11 ALTERNATION 50 100 150 0 Epidemiological Week (3 years) Endemic Channel (z=2.0) Incidence - -Outbreak Signal **Outbreak Period** •

Figure 15. Modelling the endemic channel<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> The modelling illustrates two z-values (top: z=1.25 and bottom: z=2.0) to form the endemic channel – outbreak signals are fewer when z-value is increased.

## 2.3.12 Defining your window size for the outbreak indicator

#### This option is found under 'Calib2' tab in Dashboard I

Figure 16. Defining the number of outbreak weeks (window size)



- In section 2.3.5, you defined the outbreak period. In this section, you can choose a suitable window size (or denominator) for calculating the proportion from these outbreak periods. For example, if you choose a window size of "4", the program will take the "sum of values" of 4 consecutive outbreak periods and divide it by 4 to generate a proportion this proportion is then needed in the next steps to formulate the outbreak signal.
- Decreasing this window size can increase the sensitivity of predicting an outbreak. At the same time, you may have to choose to increase this window size when you have some missing records in your data.
- The choice of your window size depends on the evaluation criteria that give the best outbreak predictions, see step 14 in the annex.
- This corresponds to **step 5** in the annex.

### 2.3.13 Defining your prediction distance

#### This option is found under 'Calib2' tab in Dashboard I

Figure 17. Defining the prediction distance (in weeks)



- Enter the desired "choice of distance between current week and target week to predict an outbreak signal".
- For example, at week 10, if prediction distance=2 and outbreak window=4 (previous option), this will mean that you start counting from week 12 up to week 15 (4 weeks) to predict an outbreak signal.
- This corresponds to **step 5** in the annex.

# 2.3.14 Defining your outbreak signal

This option is found under 'Calib2' tab in Dashboard I

Figure 18. Defining the cut-off point of the outbreak signal



- In a previous step (2.3.12), you computed the "proportions" from the outbreak periods. The proportion is a value between zero and one and in order to process this value to generate an outbreak signal, it needs to be converted into either zero (which means no outbreak) or one (which means an outbreak).
- Here, in this step, you can choose a "cut-off value" to define this outbreak signal. For example, if you choose a cut-off value of 0.5, then every proportion value above this cut-off value (e.g. 0.7> 0.5) will be given the code one (indicating that there is an outbreak), and any proportion value less than this cut-off (e.g. 0.3< 0.5) will be given the code zero (indicating no outbreak). This way you have defined your outbreak outcome (a binary variable 0,1), which is the dependent variable needed for the logistic regression.
- The choice of a relevant value depends on the evaluation criteria that give the best prediction of outcome, see step 14 in the annex.
- This corresponds to **step 7** in the annex.

# 2.3.15 Activating the process for monotonic relationship (spline)

#### This option is found under 'Data' tab in Dashboard I

Figure 19. Choice of the spline application



- "Spline" is a function that allows the program to treat a certain type of relationship between alarm indicators and dengue cases.
- Without spline, the program will assume linear (non-monotonic) relationships, i.e. as the temperature increases, dengue cases increase.
- With spline, the program will assume monotonic relationships, e.g. as the temperature increases, dengue cases go down. (This is due to decreased vector activity because of excessive temperatures. Another example is increased rainfall where the risk of outbreak increases with increased rainfall, which provides more water for breeding. However,

too much rain, e.g. flooding, can flush out larvae and pupae, hence, temporarily reducing the outbreak risk.) Here you can choose between two options.

- Enter the desired spline option, i.e. code 0=No (non-monotonic relation) or 1=Yes (monotonic relation).
- You can see how spline affects your (sensitivity and PPV) results by first running without spline and then with spline.
- This corresponds to **step 6** in the annex.

### 2.3.16 Running the program

Figure 20. Running the surveillance workbook



Once you have completed the changes, the program automatically start the analytical process and generate results...

### 2.3.17 Generating the surveillance workbook

This option is only available for country-specific Dashboards!

Figure 21. Generating the surveillance workbook



- Leaving the "Generate Surveillance Workbook" box empty (e.g. un-ticked) runs a retrospective analysis of your dataset that allows you to find your alarm indicators. You should do this first (leaving an empty box) every time you make a change to the settings (calibration stage).
- Ticking this box generates the prospective early warning system in Excel and automatically links it to the prospective
  analysis of the local district (Dashboard II). Only choose this if you have already run the retrospective analysis, made all
  necessary calibrations, already identified your alarm indicators, and are satisfied with the resulting sensitivity and PPV.
- This corresponds to **step 16** in the annex.

# 2.4 Understanding your calibration outputs

Each time you run the program after making or changing your settings, one table of results will be displayed on the dashboard screen, from which you will need to verify your calibration. Graphs will also be generated to help you understand the current process and whether or not there are any errors or gaps in your data.

# 2.4.1 Graph: run-in period

Figure 22. Graph of the run-in data showing the endemic channel, number of cases and outbreak period



This graph summarizes the first half of your data, which is the "Run-in Period" data.

• Here you can learn about the duration of the data (from the X-axis; every 51 epidemiological week is one year), the average number of cases/1000 throughout the "Run-in Period" and the size of your "Endemic channel" defined by the given "z" value.

- Cases that exceed the endemic channel and trigger an "Outbreak period" are also presented.
- This graph can also indicate the quality of your data, for example a gap in the endemic channel indicates that there are missing data. At this point, you may need to change your configuration to take into account these missing records by increasing the outbreak and alarm window size!

# 2.4.2 Graph: evaluation period

Figure 23. Graph of the evaluation data showing the general parameters including the probability of outbreak period



- This graph summarizes the second half of your data, which is the "Evaluation Period" data. It simply tells how your model performs according to the given settings/calibrations in the run-in data.
- Here you can view the continuation of analysis duration (from the X-axis; every 51 "Epidemiological week" is one year, now continuing from the first half of the run-in data).

- More information is provided here. In addition to the information presented in the run-in data, you also find details on "Alarm signal", "Alarm threshold" and the "Probability of outbreak period".
- When the probability of outbreak exceeds the given alarm threshold during a particular epidemiological week, the alarm signal (blue dots) is triggered, indicating an upcoming outbreak.

# 2.4.3 Graph: run-in and evaluation period

Figure 24. Graph of the combined run-in and evaluation data showing all information



- This graph summarizes both the run-in and evaluation data and their corresponding information.
- It provides you with a comprehensive picture of the duration of the analysis and an overview of how well the model is performing.

18

## 2.4.4 Summary of calibration results, and sensitivity and PPV

For the purpose of providing detailed illustration of the derived terms and values to guide you through this process, we split this table into two parts; the first table (figure 25), demonstrates the absolute numbers of the results from the retrospective phase and the success/failure of the parameters (alarm threshold, z value, etc.) that were used to analyse the dataset (this table also summarizes "all cases" and "cases below threshold", which are not displayed in this figure). The second table (figure 26) describes the proportion of successfully detected outbreaks (sensitivity) and the proportion of false alarms (PPV). The sensitivity and PPV can directly guide you to make appropriate choices for the calibration inputs.

Figure 25. Absolute values in the output table, example showing total number of outbreaks, missed outbreaks, alarms, correct alarms and false alarms

District	Weeks	<b>Outbreak Weeks</b>	<b>Outbreak Periods</b>	Alarms	Correct Alarms	False Alarms	Missed Outbreaks	No Alarms, No Outbreaks
12	51	32	34	12	10	2	25	14
15	51	34	35	17	16	1	18	16
Total	102	66	69	29	26	3	43	30

The definitions of each of the column headings are presented below.

- "Weeks": indicates the size of your evaluation data presented by the total number of weeks, e.g. 51=almost one year, 102=two years of data records were used in the evaluation data after you have initially split your surveillance data into run-in and evaluation datasets.
- 2. "Outbreak Weeks": a week where the number of cases is above the endemic channel (z\*SD + moving average).
- 3. "Outbreak Periods": consecutive outbreak weeks (for our definition, this is an outbreak).
- 4. "Alarms": total number of alarm signals.
- 5. "Correct Alarms": alarm that correctly predicted the outbreak.
- 6. "False Alarms": alarms that falsely predicted the outbreak (false positive).
- 7. "Missed Outbreaks": alarms that could predict the outbreak if the alarm threshold was lower.
- 8. "No Alarms, No Outbreaks" (negative correct alarms): no alarms when there is no outbreak.

Figure 26. Sensitivity and PPV (screenshot of the output table – success of predicting outbreaks is shown in sensitivity/PPV)



#### Definitions (tests of validity)

- "Sensitivity": the percentage of outbreaks correctly predicted by alarms. This should be as close to 100% as possible. Minimum value of 50% is acceptable.
- "PPV": the percentage of alarms that correctly predicted outbreaks. This should be as close to 100% as possible. Minimum of 50% is acceptable.
- To increase the number of correct alarms and decrease the number of false alarms, we suggest that you alter the z value and alarm threshold, then, if necessary, alter the remaining parameters as desired. Then re-run the program.

#### **Operational perspective**

- If sensitivity is, for example 60%, then for every 10 outbreaks, the early warning system will detect 6 outbreaks correctly. It will miss 4 outbreaks.
- If PPV is, for example 70%, then 7 out of 10 alarms will be correct, 3 out of 10 alarms will be false. That means that 3 times out of 10, resources will be incorrectly mobilized, i.e. wasted.
- Consider this: in Dashboard II below, you will build the early warning system using your retrospective data. The results above are based on the presence of 1 alarm signal before an outbreak. The early warning system below uses a total of 3 alarm signals to better warn of outbreaks. Therefore, in the presence of 2 or 3 (or more) alarms, the chances of detecting an outbreak increases and the chances of wasting resources decreases with each alarm.

医马格勒德氏 化乙酰氨酸 化基苯基苯基 医骨骨的 化化合金合量管理合金合金合金合金合金合金 사람 방법에 있는 것 같은 것이 있는 것이 있는 것이 같은 것이 같이 많이 있는 것이 같이 있는 것이 같이 없다. 医骨骨骨 医骨骨骨骨 医骨骨 医鼻子 医黄黄素 医黄黄素 医子宫 医子宫 医子宫 医子宫 u balan a dan bar sena da kana sena da Angela da sena Regista da sena 2. 在外的时候,我们的是我们的问题,我们的是我们的问题,我们的问题,我们就能能是我们的问题。 医白喉黄疸 医黄疸 医黄疸 医黄疸 医黄疸 医黄疸 医白白白 网络白白白白 网络白白白白白白白白白白白白白白白白白 网络黄金属 医骨骨骨 医骨骨 医白骨骨 计算法的复数 医肠骨炎 医子子子 医子子子 法法律的现在分词 医白垩 网络斯曼 医手骨膜 医皮肤 医多合物医多合物 法法 医黄子 医白素 计下面 医子口 医子口 医子子 医胆管 化合物间的 化化氯 化结晶化 化结晶化 化化合物 法法 化化化合物 网络小麦属小麦属小麦 化化化化化化化化化化化物 医外外的 ter a ser a subservation de la subservation de 医骨骨膜炎 医骨骨骨骨 人名英格兰斯特 化化合金 人名法布尔 人名英法布尔 人名英格兰人姓氏德尔 ne de la serie an a na shina na shina a shina Af a shina a sh 時代 使き しゅうゆう システィット とうかく パラス ちょうかかく ちゃく かかし かかく ちかかく かくろう とうかく かいかい かんかん かんかん あく ちょう しゅう かっかん かかいかい しょうし かい かかく うろう 经资金 医静脉 化合合 医骨 化乙烯基 化苯苯 医白喉的 化合金 医白白白 化乙烯 医静脉的 医神经 부분들습학 - 1996년 50 1년 <u>58</u>99년 191 - 1998년 1846 - 9년 学生的 とうかく ないない かいかい ひんかん ちょうかん かくしょう ひょうし 医白喉白喉炎 化十分 网络新闻教师学家 化分子的 网络新闻 医白色的 化化化合金 的复数形式 같은 것은 이상에 집에 가슴에는 것이 한 것이라. 이상 한 것은 것이 있는 것이 없는 것이 없다. 사는 것은 것 같은 것은 것을 수 있다. 한 번째 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것 같은 것 같은 것 같은 것 같이 있는 것 같이 없다. 것 같이 있는 것 같이 있는 것 같이 없는 것 같이 없는 것 같이 없는 것 같이 없는 것 같이 없다. 것 같이 있는 것 같이 없는 것 같이 없는 것 같이 없 않는 것 같이 없는 것 같이 없다. 것 같이 없는 것 같이 없는 것 같이 없는 것 같이 없다. 것 같이 없는 것 같이 없는 것 같이 없는 것 같이 없다. 것 같이 없는 것 같이 없는 것 같이 없는 것 같이 없다. unde en bland beiten eine eine beiten eine stere eine 이 이 수 있는 것 같아요. で日本語 P 8 8 `— 1-8

# Chapter 3 Dashboard II: Harvesting the Results (for users at local level)

# 3.1 Prospective early warning system

This section summarizes the parameters and settings that were found to be most relevant and provided the best prediction model (highest sensitivity and PPV).

We discuss how to build your prospective early warning system using results from your retrospective analyses in Dashboard I (users at central level).

At this stage, you know which alarm indicators are the best predictors of outbreaks in your district/country. Now we need to apply the derived results within an early warning system that will allow you to detect outbreaks in real-time.

By the end of this chapter, you will be familiar with the analysis outputs, data entry and interpretation of alarms.

PLEASE NOTE, THIS PROSPECTIVE PROCESS NEEDS TO BE PERFORMED ON A WEEKLY BASIS!

# 3.1.1 Access to and summary of parameters: where to find them in Dashboard II and their usefulness

Dashboard II (provided for users in the EWARS PACKAGE, see section 2.1 above).

- This section under "## parameters", provides a useful summary of all parameters and settings used in the retrospective analysis (Dashboard I) that were found to be the most relevant and generated the best prediction model (highest sensitivity and PPV) (figure 27).
- Under "## parameters", the "alarm indicator" headings display the actual alarm indicator(s) that were used in the retrospective analysis and need to be used again in the prospective process for the outbreak prediction. For instance, here the user from Dashboard I used "meantemperature" and "rainfallsum". Therefore, for the outbreak prediction in the prospective analysis, weekly records from both of these parameters need to be used in Dashboard II.
- Other parameters are also presented. The "prediction distance" is another useful factor in informing the time lag for when to expect an outbreak, in case the alarm signal is triggered (i.e. we have a forthcoming outbreak). For instance, if an alarm signal were triggered at the current week (say week 7 when you enter the prospective information) and the chosen "prediction distance"=2, then you would expect an outbreak to occur during week 9.

### This option is found under 'Parameters' tab in Dashboard II

Figure 27. Summary of parameters from the retrospective analysis (Dashboard I)

EWARS-Dashboard	Dashboard I	Dashboard II	Help
Parameters			
Alarm Indicato	rs:		
weekly_average_precipit	ation weekly_me	an_temperature	

parameter	value
z outbreak	1.25
prediction distance	2
outbreak window	4
alarm window	3
outbreak threshold	0.75
alarm threshold	0.12
outbreak week length	3
seasons	1
Stop runin	201252

# 3.1.2 The three sub-links in Dashboard II: "Retrospective", "Dataset" and "Help"; their definitions and uses

As outlined at the top left-hand corner in figure 27, there are three main sub-links to follow.

- 1. The "Retrospective" tab is the main location for running the prospective analysis and interpreting the findings.
- 2. The "Datasets" tab: this is where you can locate and access the nearest meteorological stations to retrieve the needed prospective alarm indicator information (e.g. weekly mean temperature, rainfall and humidity).
- 3. The "Help" tab enables you to access the user's operation workbook and the short training video.

# 3.1.3 The surveillance workbook tab: all you need to know for this section

#### This option is only available for country-specific Dashboards!

Figure 28. Surveillance workbook tab: all you need to know for this section

Surveillance workbook	Input	data Outbreak Prob	ability Alarm plus outbr	reak Response		
Country code	District	/municipality code	Password			
со •	15		12345678			
You have selected surve	eillance wo	orkbook for country code: "	'CO" and district/municipalit	ty code: "15"		
RE-load data						
□ RE-load data					Search:	
□ RE-load data Show 10 - entries Epi_week	÷	End_channel 🍦	Out_prob.	Cases	Search:	Alarm
RE-load data Show 10 - entries Epi_week	¢ 2	End_channel \$ 0.0292372	Out_prob. 0.1562352	Cases	Search:	Alarm
□ RE-load data Show 10 v entries Epi_week	¢ 2 3	End_channel 0.0292372 0.0279832	Out_prob. 🔶 0.1562352 0.1562352	Cases	Search: Alarm1	Alarm
RE-load data	<ul> <li>2</li> <li>3</li> <li>4</li> </ul>	End_channel	Out_prob. 0.1562352 0.1562352 0.1562352	Cases	Search: Alarm1 🗘	Alarm

- Under the "surveillance workbook" tab, you can set the corresponding "Country code "and "District/municipality code", enter the assigned password to access your district information and perform the prospective analysis (e.g. CO=Colombia, MX=Mexico, DO=Dominican Republic).
- To demonstrate how to use, view and apply the applications in Dashboard II, we include demonstration data that you can select from the drop-down "country code" menu with the code "XX".

- The "District/municipality code": this follows the same district code given in the original surveillance dataset. You need to enter your corresponding district/municipality code to allow access to your account for doing the prospective analysis.
- Under "Password" enter the assigned password that was generated and sent to you during the retrospective stage. This is an 8-digit password usually unique to each district to allow access to this account.
- You need to tick the "RE-load data" button to upload the new prospective data when you enter new weekly information under the "Input data" tab. Every time you add more weekly information under this tab, you need to come here and un-tick then tick the "RE-load data" box to upload fresh information. You will need to repeat the process if you have entered incorrect weekly information. After you have entered the correct information, you need to come to this section to un-tick and tick the "RE-load data" box, to see the refreshed information appearing in the table.
- The table displays information on the epidemiological week ("epi\_week"), endemic channel ("end\_channel"), outbreak probability ("out\_prob"), number of "cases", and average weekly alarm indicator ("alarm 1", "alarm 2", etc.). The numbering of the alarm follows that displayed under "##parameters".

## 3.1.4 The input data tab: all you need to know for this section

#### This option is found under 'Input Data' tab in Dashboard II



Figure 29. The input data tab: all you need to know for this section

- Under the "Input data" tab, you can enter the corresponding information of "Year", "Population", "Epidemiological week", number of "Hospitalized cases" and the average number of alarm indicators to run your prospective analysis of the current week.
- The "Send" button is pressed once you have entered all corresponding information under this tab. After you send this information to the prospective analysis, you need to go back to the previous "Surveillance workbook" tab and click on the "Re-load data" button so that the information is uploaded into the EWARS programming process. Once the "Re-load data" button is clicked, you can see the updated information displayed in the table under the "Surveillance workbook" tab.
- In case you discovered that you have entered incorrect weekly information, you can simply re-enter the corresponding weekly information, send it and then tick "Re-load" data, and you will see the new records in the table.

#### 3.1.5 The outbreak tab: all you need to know for this section

#### This option is found under 'Outbreak' tab in Dashboard II



Figure 30. The outbreak tab: all you need to know for this section

- Under the "Outbreak" tab, you can see a summary of previous history and the current week with respect to the "Endemic channel" and the rate of confirmed cases (or alternative choices of outbreak indicators such as probable cases).
- When "Confirmed cases" (RED LINE) exceed the "Endemic channel" (GREY SHADED AREA), we can say we have an outbreak week!

### 3.1.6 The probability tab: all you need to know for this section

This option is found under 'Probability' tab in Dashboard II

Figure 31. The probability tab: all you need to know for this section



- Under the "Probability" tab, you can see a summary of previous history and the current week with respect to the "Alarm threshold" and the "Outbreak probability".
- When the "Outbreak probability" (BLUE LINE) crosses the "Alarm threshold" (GREEN LINE), then the outbreak prediction model is alerting you to an upcoming outbreak (alarm signal). By looking back at the "##parameters" summary to see what prediction distance was chosen, for example if prediction distance=2, we say there will be an outbreak happening in next two weeks!

# 3.1.7 The alarm plus outbreak tab: all you need to know for this section

This option is found under 'Outbreak and Probability' tab in Dashboard II

Figure 32. The alarm plus outbreak tab: all you need to know for this section



- Under the "Alarm plus outbreak" tab, you can see a summary of previous history and the current week with respect to all the "Confirmed cases", "Endemic channel", "Alarm threshold" and the "Outbreak probability".
- This tab is useful in putting together the relevant information on past outbreak trends and carrying out predictive modelling of the current week, and the probability of an outbreak (alarm signal).

#### 3.1.8 The response tab: all you need to know for this section

This option is found under 'Response' tab in Dashboard II

Figure 33. The response tab: all you need to know for this section



- Under the "Response" tab, you can see a summary of previous history and the current week with respect to the type of response for an upcoming outbreak.
- This section follows the outbreak prediction as outlined in the previous tab ("Alarm plus outbreak"), mainly for the relationship between the outbreak probability and the alarm threshold and, following the national recommendation for outbreak responses at district/municipality level.
- · According to national guidelines:
  - 1. "Late/emergency response" is technically declared when more than three consecutive *outbreak weeks* take place! Furthermore, the "Late/emergency response" is declared when four or more consecutive *alarm signals* occur. Figure 33 shows the "Late/emergency response" in week 10 occurred due to an alarm signal (outbreak probability exceeding the alarm threshold) happening at weeks 7, 8 and 9. Then, due to this consecutive occurrence of alarm signals, the program notified a "Late/emergency response" to be considered at week 10. In this scenario, the dashboard must have already declared "Initial response" at week 8 (since there had already been two consecutive alarm signals) and an "Early response" in week 9 (since there had already been three consecutive alarm signals)!
  - 2. "Early response" is declared when three consecutive alarm signals occur, to avoid "Late/emergency response". Another example from figure 33 shows that early response in week 29 occurred due to an alarm signal (outbreak probability exceeding the alarm threshold) at weeks 27, 28 and again in week 29. Then, due to this consecutive occurrence of alarm signals, the program notified that an early response should be considered at week 29. In this scenario, the dashboard must have already declared "Initial response" at week 28 since there had already been two consecutive alarm signals!

- 3. "Initial response" is declared when two consecutive alarm signals occur. Let's take an example from figure 33, the initial response in weeks 21 occurred due to an alarm signal (outbreak probability exceeding the alarm threshold) happening at weeks 20 and 21. Then, due to this consecutive occurrence of alarm signal, the program notified that an initial response should be considered at week 21.
- 4. "No response" is declared when are no alarm signals or only one alarm signal in the current week.

# 3.2 Retrieving online meteorological information on weekly alarms (datasets sub-link)

PLEASE NOTE, ONLY THE WEATHER APPLICATION IS CURRENTLY ACTIVE!

# 3.2.1 Setting your local district/municipality spatial information to detect nearest meteorological station

EWARS v.0.2a Weather Twitter Wikipedia Google search-term Retropective Study area Datasets Radius (in km) Latitude Longitude i Help 3,139 -101,6869 -\* 100 Click to search weather stations. TDR | World Health Ore

Figure 34. Retrieving online meteorological information: setting your district's spatial information

- Under the "meteorological" tab, you can set your spatial information of your district/municipality to detect your nearest meteorological station.
- In the "Latitude" box, enter the corresponding latitude value of your district/municipality.
- In the "Longitude" box, enter the corresponding longitude value of your district/municipality.
- Hint! You may use the Google search engine to obtain this information and enter it into this box.
- In the "Radius" box, enter the size of the area for your search. For example, entering a value of 100, the search for nearest meteorological station will cover an area of 100 sq km within your district/municipality.
- Once all the information is entered, "Click to search weather stations" button and a map will appear to show the locations of nearest meteorological stations.

# 3.2.2 Setting your period of interest for deriving the meteorological information



Figure 35. Retrieving online meteorological information: defining the period of interest

- This section defines the period for the meteorological information to be obtained.
- In this map, the blue circles are the meteorological stations and the red circle is your study site (district/municipality).
- Enter the date for the start of the meteorological information under "The earliest date" and the end date under "The latest date". For example, if you are interested in obtaining all records of meteorological information for last two weeks from your current week, say, 26 November 2017, then the start date will be 12 November 2017 ("2017-11-12") and the end date will be 26 November 2017 ("2017-11-26").
- Then, click on the "Click to proceed..." button.

# 3.2.3 Selecting a desired meteorological station from the obtained list



Figure 36. Retrieving online meteorological information: selecting a desired meteorological station

This section displays the list of all meteorological stations available to retrieve the alarm information. The list on the right-hand side refers to each one of these stations.

- The graph shows an overview of how each station presents its meteorological information and whether there is an agreement between them. As a user, you may select anyone that you find representative and relevant in terms of being in the nearest location to your district.
- Enter the corresponding station code (from the list presented at the right-hand side) in the "Weather station ID" box, then "Click to select..." button.
- Once this is done, you will see a list of the alarm indicators presented for the period you initially selected.

# 3.2.4 Using the derived information of the alarm indicators

Figure 37. Reading the retrieved online meteorological information for alarm indicators

Show 12 v entries				Search:
	ҮМ	¢	tavg 🔶	prcp 💠
1	Jan 2017		26.97	2448
2	Feb 2017		27.21	1688
3	Mar 2017		27.65	2423
4	Apr 2017		27.73	1171
5	May 2017		28.29	655
6	Jun 2017		28.19	389
7	Jul 2017		28.03	138
8	Aug 2017		27.51	358
9	Sep 2017		27.27	1168
10	Oct 2017		27.85	507
11	Nov 2017		27.43	1306
Showing 1 to 11 of 11 entr	ries			Previous 1 Next

• This section displays the derived information of alarm indicators from the selected meteorological station. You can use the available information for your data input to run the prospective analysis.

- The column "YM" represents the period corresponding to when the alarm indicator information was collected.
- The column "tavg" represents the temperature average.
- The column "prcp" represents the precipitation or the rainfall in millimetres.
- Based on this information, you can calculate weekly alarm indicator averages.

# Chapter 4 The automatization of EWARS

# 4.1 Background

Recent developments in machine learning and the use of big data applications enable complex analysis and enhanced predictions of early warning systems, which can fundamentally innovate response effectiveness, if structured and deployed strategically. Innovating the EWARS into a fast, reliable and harmonised tool, will aid users in endemic countries to apply more efficiently at wider-spread approach. The automatization development proposed here is one-step forward towards this vital goal.

The automatization phase was built on the same methodological and conceptual model of the original EWARS with further modifications to speed the calibration and evaluation process and expand the range of possible calibration scenarios for sufficiently testing best alarm predictors against outbreaks. i.e. optimal sensitivity and PPV.

Unlike the older version, the automatized EWARS version has both dashboard 1 (retrospective) and dashboard 2 (prospective) embedded under one link, which is now provided free of charge. The new platform maintains the same level of data accessibility and security across districts (i.e. allows access by central level only but not vice versa) but deliver immediate results, interpretations and guideline for staged-response of outbreaks. It is further innovated to facilitate easy, cheap and compatible integration of the tool (script) into existing national surveillance systems, which ensure countries' full ownership of their data.

# 4.2 Accessing the EWARS dashboard

Countries can request their new free EWARS tool via the same source; ewars@post.com. Upon request, countries will be provided with their private account and password to access the generic EWARS. Countries have the option of either obtaining their own EWARS dashboard (by obtaining a private account and password to access their hub) or, to request the direct ownership by directly installing this tool in to their national surveillance program which grant users full and independent control of their data (thus, countries will receive the programming materials to install).

The shiny server used for this new version is an open source from the R package that provides an elegant and powerful web framework for building web applications using R. Shiny is more efficient in running and maintaining which has a basic annual cost of 990 USD and does not require IT maintenance (unlike the older server). It is also easy to install therefore, it facilitate a smoother process of transferring the EWARS into a national program (100% country ownership).

Users at central level can assign unique passwords for users to access district-level information (for running prospective data). With the new advancement, countries can also integrate this into their national surveillance program without significant IT running and maintenance cost. A package including information on the programming script, operational guide, mechanism for obtaining and instantly processing metreological data will be provided to aid the country ownership of the tool, and reduce the burden of limited accessibility to timely climate information.

Figure 38. Importing surveillance data into the EWARS.

EWARS-I	Dashbo	bard	Dashboard I					
Autom	atic Calib	bration						
Data	Variat	bles & F	Runnin Period	calib1	Calib2			
choo	ose file to	o uploa	d					
Bro	owse	Demo	p_Data.xlsx					
		Uplo	ad complete		li i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i			
Choi	ce of sh	eet nar	ne for the origi	nal data				
Sh	eet1							
⊠s	pecify gra	aph per	district/municip	ality optior	1			
	enerate	surveilla	ance workbooks					
	- Cherate .	Surrein						
	pline							
Distr	rict code	s						
15					]			
3					^			
4								
5	5							
6								
7								
8								
9								
10								

# 4.3 Calibrating the instrument

The new tool allows running both 'manual' and 'automatized' calibration, a step that typically occurs in the first dashboard; 1. Manual calibration: similar to the original design and instruction provided in chapter 2 of the user guide. 2. Automatized form: this is the simpler and fast approach introduced in this innovation stage of EWARS, which is outlined hereunder:

Surveillance dataset should follow the same format described in chapter 1 in the operational guide. Under the 'Data' tab, users can browse and import their surveillance data directly into the tool. The name of 'sheet' will appear under the

second box exactly as named in the surveillance data, see figure 38. In order to display the graph of the results, users need to tick the first box, as outlined in figure 38. This version has modified the data entry by introducing a drop-down menu for selecting all information from the surveillance dataset. For choosing the district(s) of interest, drag down and select from the list under 'District codes'.

## 4.3.1 Manual Calibration

The manual calibration mode is active as far as the box 'Automatic Calibration' in figure 39 is kept unticked. Users at the central level can assign unique 8-digit password for corresponding districts, under the box '8 digit password' (figure 2). All variables 'population', 'outbreak cases' and 'Alarm indicators' can be selected through the drop-down menu list available under the boxes as outlined in figure 39. In order to define the 'run-in' period (which follows the same concept outlined in chapter 1 in the operational guide), users can chose a cut-off for the 'year' and 'week' from the scales shown in figure 39.

#### Figure 39. Selecting the list of variables and defining the running period



The descriptions of all variables used for the calibration are already provided in chapter 1. Under the manual calibration mode, users need to define values for 'outbreak period, 'alarm window size' 'alarm threshold' and season length' which are displayed under the tab 'Calib1'. The 'z-outbreak value', 'outbreak window size' and 'distance between outbreak and alarm signal' as well as the 'outbreak cut-off' will be provided under 'Calib2'. Each variable can be calibrated using the scale range as illustrated in figure 40.

#### Figure 40. Doing the calibration (manual mode)



Graphs as well as the calibration outputs displaying all parameters including the sensitivity and PPV of the analysis will be displayed on the same page, as shown in figures 41 and 42 below



#### Figure 41. Illustrating an example of graphical presentation from the calibration stage

Figure 42. Illustrating an example of outputs for the calibration parameters including sensitivity and PPV.

Run-in	Evaluation	Run-in
variable		value
district		15.00
weeks		51.00
outbreak_w	veeks	34.00
outbreak_p	eriods	35.00
defined_ou	tbreaks	31.00
alarms		21.00
correct_ala	rms	20.00
false_alarm	าร	1.00
missed_out	tbreaks	11.00
no_alarm_r	no_outbreak	19.00
all_cases		1252.00
cases_belo	w_threshold	700.18
sensitivity		0.65
PPV		0.95

#### District

15				-
----	--	--	--	---

## 4.3.2 Automatized Calibration

This is a more efficient approach of running the calibration attempt when defining best prediction algorithm. Under this form of calibration, both tabs 'Calib1' and 'Calib2' will no longer need to be filled (figure 3). Once the data is imported and variables are selected (for the population, district, outbreak and alarm variables), the user can tick the 'Automatic Calibration' box as illustrated in figure 6. Once the box is ticked, the tool starts processing the data, with a small box displaying the percentage of process.

#### Figure 43. Doing the automatized calibration.

WARS-Dashboard Dashboard I			
Automatic Calibration			
Data Variables & Runnin Period ca	lib1 Calib2		
XX -			
8 digit password			
12345678			
population	•		
Variable for the weekly number of outb	reak	(36%) This may take a while	
weekly_hospitalised_cases	•		
Alarm indicator(s):Separate with comm rainsum meantemperature	as		
Specify the year the run-in period stop:	2013		
2008 2009 2010 2010 2011 2011 2012 2012	2012013		
Specify the week the run-in period stop	s 52		
1 7 13 19 25 31 37 43	49.52		

At the end of the automatized process, users can view the tab 'Sensitivity & Specificity' to obtain the generated calibration outputs, as in the manual calibration. The displayed outputs are based on the most optimal calibration i.e. settings and alarm variables that generate the highest sensitivity and PPV values. An output of some scenarios is presented (in order from best to worst outcomes; higher Kappa indicates for a better calibration model) under the 'Auto calibration table' as shown in figure 44, below. These outputs have no direct use in the interpretations rather to give an overview of appropriate settings to assign for obtaining optimized calibration..

#### Figure 44. Example of output illustrations from the automatized calibration

Run-in I	Evaluation	Run-in +Evaluation		Sensitivity& Specificity		Autocalibration table		
variable		Run0001	Run0002	Run0003	Run0004	Run0005	Run0006	Run0007
district		15.00	15.00	15.00	15.00	15.00	15.00	15.00
outbreak_wee	ek_length1	5.00	5.00	2.00	4.00	6.00	3.00	6.00
alarm_window	v1	5.00	5.00	6.00	7.00	9.00	4.00	3.00
alarm_thresho	old1	0.03	0.11	0.14	0.21	0.26	0.19	0.27
z_outbreak1		1.16	1.33	1.09	1.07	1.20	1.58	1.25
outbreak_wind	dow1	1.00	3.00	3.00	1.00	2.00	3.00	1.00
prediction_dis	tance1	2.00	2.00	2.00	0.00	4.00	5.00	4.00
outbreak_thre	shold1	0.70	0.64	0.58	0.74	0.57	0.56	0.73
Карра		0.51	0.37	0.27	0.16	0.13	0.08	0.04

#### District

15 🔹

# 4.4 Dashboard 2: prospective application

The new EWARS tool integrates both dashboards under on link, whereas dashboard 2, used for prospective data entry and interpretations as in the previous version. Example illustration is displayed in figure 45 hereunder.

Figure 45. Example of prospective phase using the automatized calibration



医马克勒氏病 化乙酸医乙二氨基苯基 化氯苯基 化化乙烯 化氨基苯基基化乙基乙烯 化化化石 医人名英格兰斯 医马克氏试验检 医白细胞 医弗鲁氏氏管 法法 医胆液的 化化分子 医马克曼斯特 医白色 医骨骨 医白白白白 化分子合合 人名英格兰人姓氏克 医白白白白白白白白白白白 이 있는 것이 있는 것이다. 이 것이 있는 것이 같은 것이 같은 것이 있는 것이 없는 것 かんかく かんか かんかん アンディング しょうかん かんかん しょうしょう しょうしょうかい ، ۇۋىچە بەشۋىرىد ئىر ۋاقىدىلەت بەت ئى ۋە دەقۇر ب 网络美国美国大学会美国大学会美国大学会美国大学会美国大学会主义的美国大学会美国大学会主义 医白喉骨炎 医黄疸 医结核 医原子 化乙烯基 计算法 医白白 法法律法庭 医白白菌素 计存在分词 计算法分词 化分子 网络卡 医子宫间 医生生 医多氏结合 医外外的 化合金 医子子 人名英格兰人姓氏 化化合金 化化合金 化化合金 网络美国新教会会 化氯化合金 医白白素 化化合金 医白白素 医白白素 化合金 医白白素 化化合金 化分子 化分子 化分子 n effe finden auf finden eine seine eine eine eine beiten b 医骨骨膜炎 网络黄金 医子宫骨骨骨骨骨骨 医子宫 医子宫 医子宫 医子宫 医子宫 网络黄金 医白白白 医白白白白 医白白白白 **Marija** 医骨骨骨 医白色黄疸 化化化合金 化分子 化化合金 化合金 医骨骨骨 医骨骨 网络白色 化合金合金 化丁 とうしんがい かんかん かんかん かんかい かいしょう かいしょう かんしょう しょうしょう しんしょう しんしょう h 문 김 수 있다고 한 승규는 이 가슴을 다 있다. 한 승규는 가슴 가슴을 가 있는 것이 가 있습니다. 부분들습니다. 이야한테 등을 다른 말을 위한 이야지 수 하는 것이 있다. 이야한테 가지는 이야한테 가지 않는 것을 했다. 医骨骨 医弗尔氏管 医脊髓静脉 医骨骨骨 医静静脉 医子宫 医子宫 医骨骨 人 a a de artes de la campa e a de antes de la definida de la de Novembre de la companya de la desar de la definidad de la desar 그는 아이들을 들었는 것 이 가지 않는 것이 없다. 이상승규는 것은 눈 옷을 만들었다. 학습관습관을 통해 8 (t) (t) in ta

# Annex. Technical guide

# 1. Introduction

This technical guide explains the scientific rationale behind *The Early Warning and Response System (EWARS)* for Dengue Outbreaks: operational guide using the web-based dashboard.

This project has focused on developing a validated R-based model that can enable the prediction of "out of control" dengue cases (outbreaks) as defined by dengue incidence (probable/hospitalized cases). The early warning system detects changes in the alarm indicators (entomological, meteorological and epidemiological) to predict dengue outbreaks. The purpose of this *Guide* is to provide an overview of the applied method and its rationale. Additionally, it presents block diagrams to describe the applied method with further details on each step. This will assist the user to follow the *Guide* and link to the corresponding step number. It also discusses general requirements for the R program and potential errors while using the available do-files.

# 2. Methodology

The general methodological concept of this analysis follows two major phases that are summarized below.

# 2.1 Retrospective phase

This phase uses retrospective surveillance data to create two datasets: (i) run-in data, used to develop the prediction model; and (ii) evaluation data, used to evaluate the derived parameters from the prediction model.

### 2.1.1 Run-in data

This dataset uses past records to estimate/calibrate the model parameters of the relationship between the outbreak indicator and alarm indicator(s). This parameterization is then tested during the evaluation process (step 2, below) and applied by the user to predict an outbreak. These data include information on the year, week and district, outbreak indicator (probable, confirmed cases, or other forms of outbreak indicators), and alarm indicator(s), such as the weekly mean temperature, sum of rainfall, mean humidity and probable cases.

### 2.1.2 Evaluation data

This dataset is used to: (a) evaluate the prediction model; and (b) provide summary statistics that are used to build the prospective early warning system.

# 2.2 Prospective early warning phase (i.e. Dashboard II)

The populated file of results (final parameters) in Dashboard II, allows the user to enter prospective information to estimate the probability of an outbreak in a foreseeable period. This is simply derived by inserting weekly data of outbreak and alarm indicator(s) for the district(s) of interest.

#### 2.2.1 Rationale for the approach

The final model derived for estimating the probability of an outbreak is generated via systematic steps (creating/evaluating parameters) by assessing the association between the level in the alarm indicators (i.e. mean rainfall, mean temperature, mean of humidity, etc.) and dengue outbreaks. Logistic regression is used to assess this association. This regression model processes the computed proportions of the outcome (computed via a cut-off value given by the user), to predict the probability of dengue outbreaks for a forthcoming period. Throughout these steps, the user is able to define relevant measures such as the size of the endemic channel, the outbreak duration, the alarm threshold and the prediction distance. Descriptions of these measures can be found in the following chapter.

# 3. Structural design

The block diagram in figure 38 outlines 16 steps in the overall process distributed across two different phases. Phase I (retrospective) is divided into: (i) the "Run-in data"; and (ii) the "Evaluation data". Phase II (prospective) is the final analysis using summary statistics to populate an Excel-based early warning system that can be used in real-time to detect future dengue outbreaks. A summary of each step is presented below.

# 3.1 Phase I (retrospective: Dashboard I)

### 3.1.1 Using the run-in data to create the prediction model (part one)

#### Step 1

In this step, the original data are divided into "Run-in data" and "Evaluation data". The user determines this by entering the period (cut-off), in year-week, when the run-in data end and the evaluation data begin. A minimum of two years' data are required for the run-in data though more than two years' data are recommended.

#### Step 2

This step refers to the "Endemic channel" and is represented by the following equation:

Endemic channel= (Z\*SD) + moving average

"Z" is a multiplier value of the SD provided by the user to vary the breadth of the endemic channel. This part will assist in declaring the "out of control" status. For instance, a value of Z=1.5 would increase the breadth one and a half times the expected normal range of the number of dengue cases. The moving average is the mean number of dengue cases within the expected normal or seasonal range, calculated for a window size of three preceding and three succeeding weeks from the point (week) of measure.

Figure 46. Block diagram illustrating the process and steps of the retrospective and prospective phases (I, II)



# Phase I. Retrospective phase

# Phase II. Prospective phase



#### Step 3a

In this step, an "outbreak" is defined by the proportion of number of incident cases in relation to the annual population for a corresponding district. The user is given the option to choose which outbreak indicator to use, for example, probable or hospitalized cases.

#### Step 3b

In this step, the user may choose the desired length of an "outbreak period". The user can define the length of the outbreak period by determining the number of consecutive weeks (1, 2, 3, etc.) that dengue cases must exceed the endemic channel. For example, for "outbreak\_week\_length=3", we can say that our outbreak period is defined when the dengue cases continue to exceed the endemic channel value for 3 consecutive weeks.

#### Step 4

This step illustrates how data from the "Alarm indicator" is used in relation to the alarm window (figure 39). We measure the mean of each alarm indicator (mean temperature, weekly rainfall, etc.) during the preceding pre-defined alarm window size (e.g. choosing alarm window size of 4, this step will measure the mean of each of these alarm indicators during the last four consecutive weeks including the week we are measuring from).





#### Step 5

This step illustrates how data from the outbreak period are used with the window size to define an outbreak (figure 40).

Here, the formulated outbreak period (from step 3b) is converted into proportions by dividing the "sum of values" from the outbreak periods by a given window size (or denominator) which generates values that lie between "0" and "1" (proportion). The user usually defines the window size during the calibration stage, which defines these proportions and which will, in later steps, be used to form the outbreak outcome (using the outbreak threshold).

For example, if the user chooses a window size of 4, then the analytical program will take the "sum of values" of 4 consecutive outbreak periods and divide it by 4 to generate a proportion. Figure 40 illustrates this process by also describing how other information (also defined by the user) can be used in this step. The prediction distance is another factor used in this process that defines the point where computing the proportion should begin in the data.





#### Step 6

The "Spline option" handles a non-monotonic relationship between the alarm indicator(s) and the outbreak indicator(s). A non-monotonic relationship occurs when there is an increase in the mean alarm indicator during a particular period with a decreased number of dengue cases (outbreak) for the same period. Applying this option (yes=1 (non-monotonic)/ no=0 (monotonic)) is decided during the evaluation stage (section 2.3.15 Choice of the spline application; line 35 in the do-file).

The user can observe the performance (evaluation table) of the prediction model when the spline is selected or removed. The method of checking the performance of the prediction model is illustrated in step 14 below.

#### Step 7

In step 5, proportions from the outbreak periods were computed using a pre-defined window size and prediction distance. In this step, the outbreak signal is formulated by converting the derived proportions into a binary variable (0=no outbreak or 1=outbreak), which is necessary for running the logistic regression in the next step.

In this step (7), the user chooses a suitable cut-off point (threshold) which defines an "Outbreak signal" (i.e. code "1") or not (i.e. code "0"). For example, if you choose a threshold value of 0.5, then any proportion above this threshold (e.g. 0.7 > 0.5) will be given the code one (an outbreak signal) and any proportion value less than this threshold (e.g. 0.3 < 0.5) will be given the code zero (not an outbreak signal). This will result in a binary outbreak outcome variable that is ready to enter the logistic regression process.

#### Step 8

In this step, we assess the association between the binary outcome of the outbreak signal (0, 1) and the alarm indicators using logistic regression. This relationship will be influenced by the "season\_length" input. For example, if season\_length=4 weeks, the logistic regression model will generate a coefficient for this period length alone. Then the next coefficient will be specific to the following 4 consecutive weeks and so forth.

#### Step 9

The coefficients generated from this regression model will be stored/applied during the evaluation stage.

# 3.1.2 Using the evaluation data to assess how the derived parameters from the run-in data would predict an outbreak (part two)

#### Step 10

Refers to the second part after splitting the surveillance data, which we call the "Evaluation data" (the first part of the original data was used in step 1, i.e. the "Run-in data"). The user determines this by entering the period, in year-week (e.g. 201452) for when the run-in data ends and the evaluation data begins. A minimum of two years' data records is required for each dataset.

#### Step 11

In this step, we are evaluating the coefficients that were initially generated by the "Run-in data". This evaluation is performed by applying these coefficients to the "Evaluation data" to observe the performance of the prediction model in detecting outbreaks.

#### Step 12

The derived function from the logistic regression step 8 and its parameters are used to estimate the "Probability" of an outbreak occurrence.

#### Step 13

The generated probability from step 12 will require a threshold to determine an alarm signal. For instance, for a probability of 0.4, with a threshold of 0.3 (i.e. the probability  $\geq$  threshold), this record is said to be an alarm signal. If, however, the probability were less than the threshold, then it is not an alarm signal.

#### Step 14

In order to ensure that the given threshold (in step 13) is reliable to predict an outbreak, the program will further present four evaluation criteria to assess the choice given in step 13. These criteria are:

- 1. correct alarm: probability  $\geq$  threshold with a true outbreak (for a target period);
- 2. false alarm: probability  $\geq$  threshold with no true outbreak (for a target period);
- 3. missed outbreak: probability  $\leq$  threshold with a true outbreak (for a target period);
- 4. no alarm, no outbreak: probability  $\leq$  threshold with no true outbreak (for a target period).

An optimal threshold (option in step 13) would lead to an increased number of correct alarms and negative correct alarms but a decreased number of false alarms and missed alarms. By observing these results (which will be displayed on the screen of the program – output), the user can alter the threshold in step 13, accordingly.

# 3.2 Phase II (prospective surveillance: Dashboard II)

#### Step 15

In this step, the program will run through the entire dataset (i.e. both run-in + evaluation) to populate the output file (Dashboard II) that includes information on the probability formula, model parameters and details on the applied settings from the evaluation period. Once the user has entered real-time prospective data into the empty columns, the file will automatically estimate and graph the probability of an outbreak to predict an outbreak.

#### Step 16

In this final step, the program will populate the surveillance workbook, which is directly linked and displayed in Dashboard II. The user will input data on year, week, outbreak indicator, and alarm indicator(s) for a corresponding district directly into Dashboard II, which can automatically calculate the probability of an outbreak and produce an instant graphical presentation and alarm signals/responses.

NB: Settings from steps 2-8 in phase II (the prospective surveillance) will be automatically fixed according to the performed settings during the evaluation stage, i.e. the tool applies the same settings that the user approved during the evaluation stage to provide best prediction.





TDR, the Special Programme for Research and Training in Tropical Diseases, is a global programme of scientific collaboration established in 1975. Its focus is to improve the health and well-being of people burdened by infectious diseases of poverty through research and innovation. TDR is co-sponsored by the following organizations:





TDR/World Health Organization 20, Avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

Fax: (+41) 22 791-4854 tdr@who.int www.who.int/tdr

